RECEIVED

Jun 10 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, Business Court Program

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001645
Case No. 2019-CP-23-00998

McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC, Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant-Respondent,

v.

Donza H. Mattison, Defendant/Counterclaimant-Appellant,

Donza H. Mattison, in a Derivative
Capacity on Behalf of McMillan Pazdan
Smith, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Rondald G. Smith, Joseph M. Pazdan,
Brad B. Smith, and Chad C. Cousins Third-Party Defendants-Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

(1) Did the circuit court mistakenly assign to Appellant the burden of proof and disregard most of the applicable factors on the issue of whether Appellant could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated members of the LLC in a derivative action alleging self-dealing and breaches of fiduciary duty against the LLC's three largest owners and its Chief Operating Officer?

(2) Did the circuit court improperly accept unsworn, boilerplate statements from Respondents' witnesses that were not based on personal knowledge and did not set forth admissible facts, as required by Rule 56(e), SCRCF for affidavits on a motion for summary judgment, but instead were based entirely on hearsay and subjective expressions of belief?

(3) Did the circuit court incorrectly ascribe to Appellant an improper motive in filing her derivative action based on a misinterpretation of a statement Appellant's counsel made during the summary judgment arguments and based on Respondents' counsels' unsupported characterizations of Appellant as a "disgruntled former employee"?

(4) Did the circuit court err in considering and relying on confidential settlement communications that were inadmissible under Rule 408, SCRE, when the court determined that Appellant was trying to use the derivative action solely as leverage to extort an artificially high value for her ownership interests in the Respondent LLC?

(5) Did the circuit court fail to view the facts and inferences in the record in the light most favorable to Appellant, as required on Respondents' motion for summary judgment, by disregarding statements made in Appellant's verified pleadings and supplemental affidavit?

(6) Did the circuit court err in refusing to consider the "class of one" argument in a derivative action where Appellant is the only member of the Respondent LLC who is not a current

employee of the company and, therefore, is the only person who could bring such a claim without fear of retaliation?

(7) Did the circuit court improperly limit the scope of discovery in this case where the minority members' knowledge (or lack thereof) about the underlying facts of the derivative action was crucial to Appellant's allegations that those in charge of the management of the LLC have intentionally concealed evidence of their own misconduct from the other members of the firm?

(8) Did the circuit court err in refusing to address the intractable conflict of interest that exists in the same law firms' representing three distinct constituencies simultaneously in the derivative action: (a) the Respondent LLC, (b) the individual Respondents, and (c) the minority members of the Respondent LLC, including the six members who were deposed by Appellant's counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises out of a dispute over the valuation of Appellant's ownership interests as a member of an architectural firm that is organized as a South Carolina Limited Liability Company, upon her voluntary departure as an employee of the firm. On February 22, 2019, Respondent McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC (hereinafter "MPS") filed the underlying Complaint against Appellant, Donza H. Mattison (hereinafter "Ms. Mattison"), for declaratory judgment seeking a court order forcing the redemption of her membership units as of YE2017 for a price determined by a third-party consultant hired by MPS's management committee.

Appellant filed a Verified Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party Complaint on March 4, 2019, raising various affirmative defenses, asserting counterclaims against MPS for breach of contract, judicial valuation of her membership interest, an equitable accounting, and a declaratory

judgment. Appellant also included in her Answer a Third-Party Complaint, pleaded as a derivative on behalf of MPS, against MPS's three managing members, Respondents Rondald G. Smith (hereinafter "R. Smith"), Joseph M. Pazdan (hereinafter "Pazdan"), and Brad B. Smith (hereinafter "B. Smith"), and the company's COO, Respondent Chad C. Cousins (hereinafter "Cousins"), for breach of fiduciary duty and breach of the operating agreement. Appellant asserted that the individual Respondents approved excessive compensation, bonuses, perquisites and other employment-related benefits for themselves and their family members, and authorized related-party transactions that unfairly enriched themselves at the expense of the firm, well beyond the proportions of their ownership interests in the firm.

On March 11, 2019, Appellant's counsel submitted a consent motion for case assignment to the Business Court Program for Region 1, which motion was granted by order of Chief Business Court Judge Roger M. Young on March 20, 2019. The case was assigned to the Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge for the Tenth Judicial Circuit in Anderson County.

On April 1, 2019, Respondents filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, seeking to dismiss Ms. Mattison's Counterclaims and Third-Party Complaint for failure to state a claim. Respondent MPS argued that the Counterclaims violated the covenant not to sue and the release contained in the Severance Agreement and General Release that Ms. Mattison signed on December 5, 2017, in connection with her voluntary separation of employment from MPS. Respondents also asserted that the Third-Party Complaint must be dismissed for failure to meet the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, specifically that Ms. Mattison failed to make a valid pre-suit demand on MPS prior to filing the derivative action or to demonstrate the futility of such a demand. Respondents also argued that Ms. Mattison cannot fairly and adequately represent

the interests of other similarly situated members of MPS in enforcing the rights of the company.

On April 26, 2019, Appellant filed a motion to disqualify Respondents' counsel from continuing to represent both the Respondent LLC and the individual Respondents simultaneously in this action because of the inherent conflict of interest presented. Appellant did not object to Respondents' counsels' continuing to represent just the individual Respondents, but requested that independent counsel be hired to represent the Respondent LLC. Appellant also asserted that no financial resources of the Respondent LLC should be used to defend the individual Third-Party Defendants in the derivative action. Shortly before the scheduled hearing date of May 16, 2019 on all pending motions, Appellant agreed to withdraw the motion for disqualification, without prejudice, pending the Court's ruling on Respondents' motion to dismiss.

By Order dated July 2, 2019 (following a Form 4 Order on June 14, 2019), Judge McIntosh denied Respondents' motion to dismiss the Counterclaims, finding that the release and covenant not to sue applied only to Ms. Mattison's potential employment-related claims, and that the Severance Agreement expressly carved out the redemption of her ownership interests, as well as any potential claims relating to her financial interests as a member of MPS. With respect to the derivative action, Judge McIntosh ruled that a letter sent by Ms. Mattison's counsel on January 14, 2019 did not constitute a valid pre-suit demand under Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, as a prerequisite to bringing a derivative action, but was instead merely a negotiating position. Judge McIntosh dismissed the derivative action without prejudice, allowing Appellant 30 days to amend both her pre-suit demand and the derivative claims in her Third-Party Complaint. Judge McIntosh held in abeyance the issue of whether Ms. Mattison could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated members of MPS in enforcing the rights of the LLC, pending further discovery on this issue.

On June 18, 2019, the undersigned counsel for Appellant sent certified letters to the three managing members of MPS formally notifying them of Ms. Mattison's intent to pursue a derivative action on behalf of MPS if the firm did not take appropriate action by July 19, 2019. Thereafter, Ms. Mattison re-filed her Verified Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Third-Party Complaint on July 30, 2019.

Respondents filed a second motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, on August 7, 2019, arguing that the derivative action raised in Appellant's Third-Party Complaint should be dismissed for the same reasons stated in their previous motion to dismiss. Respondents argued that the new letter of June 18, 2019 from Appellant's counsel could not be considered a valid pre-suit demand because litigation was already underway.

Respondents' second motion to dismiss was heard by Judge McIntosh on September 10, 2019. The court denied the motion to dismiss by formal Order on October 30, 2019 (following a Form 4 Order on October 10, 2019). The court ruled that the letter of June 18, 2019 was a valid pre-suit demand and that Appellant had properly pleaded the derivative action claims in her Amended Third-Party Complaint. The court reiterated its previous ruling that the issue of whether Ms. Mattison could be a fair and adequate representative in the derivative action could only be addressed after an opportunity for discovery.

Appellant resumed her discovery on the derivative action shortly after the hearing on the second motion to dismiss. On September 23, 2019, Appellant's counsel re-issued six subpoenas duces tecum to third-parties, seeking documents and financial records relating to both Appellant's counterclaims and the derivative action. On October 2, 2019, Respondents filed a motion for a protective order and to quash the non-party subpoenas. The court scheduled a hearing on this

discovery motion for November 6, 2019.

On October 24, 2019, Appellant filed a Renewed Motion for Disqualification of Plaintiff's Counsel following the entry of the court's Form 4 Order announcing its decision on Respondents' motion to dismiss the derivative action. Thereafter, Respondent's counsel specifically requested that the motion for disqualification not be heard during the upcoming hearing on November 6, 2019 because of the serious and consequential nature of the motion. The court scheduled a hearing for December 13, 2019 on the disqualification motion.

During the hearing on November 6, 2019 regarding the non-party subpoenas, the court sua sponte issued a ruling limiting discovery in the case to the issues of valuation of Appellant's ownership interests (including potential normalization of the alleged self-dealing and insider transactions) and whether Appellant could be a fair and adequate representative for the alleged derivative action. The court directed Respondents' counsel to prepare a formal written order, which was apparently signed by Judge McIntosh on November 22, 2019, but was not actually filed until on January 23, 2020.

On December 2, 2019, Respondents' counsel informed Appellant's counsel that Respondents had recently obtained written statements from all of the members of MPS (other than Ms. Mattison) expressing opposition to the derivative action and refusing to support the derivative action. Respondents' counsel provided copies of the statements to Appellant's counsel on December 3, 2019, only after Appellant's counsel agreed that Respondents' counsel could mark the statements as "Confidential." Later on December 3, 2019, Appellant's counsel prepared and served notice of the depositions of six of the minority members of MPS who had signed the member statements. Appellant's counsel schedule the depositions for three consecutive days (December 17-19, 2019),

the earliest possible dates given the 10-day notice provision of Rule 30(b)(1), SCRCF.

In response to the notice of depositions, Respondents' counsel filed a motion for protective order on December 11, 2019, asserting that the sole purpose of the six depositions was to subject members of MPS to annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, and undue burden and expense. Appellant's counsel filed a brief in opposition to the motion for protective order on December 12, 2019, and offered to waive the 10-day notice requirement under Rule 6(d), SCRCF, so the court could take up the motion for protective order during hearing on the motion for disqualification of counsel, which was already scheduled for the following day, December 13, 2019, at 2:00 p.m.

On the morning of December 13, 2019, the court requested that counsel for the parties be available for an off-the-record telephone conference to discuss the case. During the call, Judge McIntosh indicated that he believed the motion for disqualification of counsel was premature until the court first determined whether Ms. Mattison could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated members of the LLC in the derivative action. Judge McIntosh did indicate that he would allow the depositions of the six members of the LLC to proceed, but left it to the attorneys to work out the scheduling of the depositions. The court limited the depositions to the subjects previously announced in the court's sua sponte ruling during the hearing on November 6, 2019. At the court's invitation, Appellant's counsel submitted a letter to Judge McIntosh on December 16, 2019, memorializing the court's rulings for the record, since no court reporter was present during the informal telephone conference on the morning of December 13, 2019. Judge McIntosh responded by email on December 17, 2019, stating that Appellant's counsel's summary of the court's rulings during the telephone conference was accurate.

It took over two months to complete the first three depositions of minority members of MPS,

because of logistical disputes with Respondents' counsel over where and when the depositions would occur and how long they would be allowed to last. The first three depositions were taken on January 17, 2020, January 29, 2020, and February 19, 2020. After Appellant's counsel requested deposition dates for the three additional minority members from the original notice of December 3, 2019, Respondents filed two motions on February 21, 2020, two days later, seeking to prevent Appellant's derivative action from proceeding further: (1) a motion for protective order to preclude Appellant from conducting any further discovery in the derivative action, specifically including depositions of any other members of MPS and a requested inspection of MPS's office in Spartanburg, SC under Rule 34, SCRPC; and (2) a motion summary judgment and for attorney's fees and costs with respect to the derivative action.

The Court held a hearing on these motions May 12, 2020, via video conference because of the restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Prior to the hearing, Appellant's counsel filed an Affidavit under Rule 56(f), SCRPC, requesting additional discovery before the summary judgment motion was considered. On May 15, 2020, the Court entered a Form 4 order holding Respondents' motion for summary judgment on the derivative action in abeyance, pending the taking of three additional depositions of minority members of MPS who were among the six witnesses originally noticed in December 2019. During the summary judgment hearing on May 12, 2020, the Court, again sua sponte, further limited any additional depositions to the issues of whether the minority members even wanted a derivative action to proceed and, if so, whether they wanted Ms. Mattison to be the representative of MPS in such action.

Following the three additional depositions of minority members, which were held on June 17, June 22, and July 10, 2020, Respondents' counsel submitted the full depositions transcripts to

the court by email on July 20, 2020. Thereafter, Appellant's counsel requested 30 days to submit supplemental briefing on summary judgment to discuss the new deposition testimony, but Respondents' counsel objected to any further briefing. On July 21, 2020, Judge McIntosh emailed counsel with his decision to allow supplemental briefing within 10 days, with the briefs limited to 20 pages and no exhibits unless approved by the court in advance. In his email of July 21, Judge McIntosh also requested that Respondents' counsel prepare a statement of attorneys' fees and costs associated with defending the derivative action, but the court specifically instructed counsel not to brief the issue of whether an award of attorney's fees was even appropriate at this juncture of the case.

Both sides filed supplemental briefs on Friday, July 31, 2020. On Tuesday, August 4, 2020, the Court entered a Form 4 Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents on the derivative action and directing Respondents' counsel to prepare a proposed order, including a provision requiring Appellant to pay Respondents' attorneys' fees and costs relating to defending against the derivative action, but leaving the amount of fees to be determined. Respondents' counsel submitted the proposed order on August 11, 2020. Thereafter, Appellant's counsel sent a letter to Judge McIntosh objecting to the proposed order on August 12, 2020, including the attorney's fee award, for which the court had previously instructed the parties not to brief.

Judge McIntosh sent an email to counsel on August 13, 2020, allowing both sides to submit briefs within 10 days on the issue of the propriety of an award of attorneys' fees under either the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure or the contractual documents at issue in the case. Respondents' counsel filed their attorneys' fee brief on Friday, August 21, 2020, and Appellant's counsel filed his attorneys' fee brief on Monday, August 24, 2020.

On September 22, 2020, the Court entered an order vacating its prior decision to award attorneys' fees and costs in favor of Respondents.

On September 25, 2020, Respondents' counsel submitted a second proposed order on their motion for summary judgment regarding the derivative action, omitting the award of attorneys' fees. The Summary Judgment Order was signed and filed on September 30, 2020.

Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend or for Reconsideration of Summary Judgment Order on Monday, October 12, 2020, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. The circuit court scheduled a hearing on the motion for October 26, 2020. The court requested briefs to be filed by Friday, October 23, 2020, which were filed by both sides. At the conclusion of the hearing on October 26, 2020, the court requested Respondents' counsel to prepare a proposed order denying the motion for reconsideration. Respondents' counsel submitted the proposed order on October 30, 2020. The court signed the Order on November 9, 2020, denying Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion.

Appellant timely served and filed the Notice of Appeal on December 9, 2020.

FACTS

Appellant, Donza Mattison, has been a licensed architect in South Carolina since September 17, 1991. She had worked for the Spartanburg firm of McMillan Smith & Partners Architects, PLLC (hereinafter "MS") since approximately September 1994 and had been a partner in that firm since January 1, 1997. (Amended Answer, at 9, ¶ 44) (R. p. 127). MPS was formed at the end of September 2009, upon the merger of the MS firm with the Greenville firm of Pazdan-Smith Group, Inc. (Id. at ¶ 45) (R. p. 127). At the time of the merger, Ms. Mattison's membership interest in MPS was 3.883%, making her (tied with three of her colleagues from MS) the fifth largest owner of the firm. Currently, she holds 2,035 membership units of MPS, which makes her the eighth largest

owner among approximately two dozen current members. (Id. at ¶ 46) (R. p. 127). Of the members of MPS, only eleven individuals hold 2% or more of the outstanding membership units. Another eleven members of MPS hold less than one-tenth of 1% (< 0.10%) of the outstanding membership units of the firm, generally having been granted their units as a component of their compensation, rather than actually buying into the firm as Ms. Mattison and some of her colleagues had done. At the time of Ms. Mattison's departure from the firm in February 2018, the four individual Respondents cumulatively owned approximately 75.67% of MPS's outstanding membership units. (HDH Report, YE2017).

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