RECEIVED

Jun 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh

Appellate Case No. 2020-001645
Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-00998

McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC,
Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, Respondent,

v.

Donza H. Mattison,
Defendant/Counterclaimant, Appellant.

AND

Donza H. Mattison, in a Derivative Capacity
on Behalf of McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC,
Third-Party Plaintiff, Appellant,

v.

Ronald G. Smith, Joseph M. Pazdan,
Brad B. Smith, and Chad C. Cousins,
Third-Party Defendants, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Thomas H. Keim, Jr.
FORD HARRISON

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

The threat in Mattison’s pre-suit letter, in which she sought *quadruple* the appraised value of her shares, was clear: either pay the inflated amount she sought or face a shareholder derivative action. *See* Letter from Rothstein to Keim at 3 (Jan. 14, 2019) (R. 845–47) (“If we are unable to resolve this matter . . . , Ms. Mattison intends to file not only an action for judicial valuation of her shares but also a shareholder derivative action”). Mattison confirmed this position in her repeated statements in open court:

THE COURT: . . . the real issue behind this derivative case, in my view, is that she’s trying to seek a higher payout.

MR. ROTHSTEIN: No question about that, Your Honor, but there’s nothing wrong with that.

* * *

THE COURT: . . . your ultimate goal is to increase what her buyout is.

MR. ROTHSTEIN: Absolutely. . . . I agree with that 100 percent that’s the goal, but there’s nothing wrong with that.

* * *

MR. ROTHSTEIN: . . . we’re trying to maximize the value of *her claim*, that’s absolutely what we’re trying to do.

Hearing Tr. (May 12, 2020) at 15:6–10, 17:10–17, and 20:23–24 (R. 322:6–10, 324:10–17, and 327:23–24).

On appeal, Mattison seeks to explain away these statements as a permissible attempt to restore the allegedly ill-gotten gains back into the coffers of MPS, which (she claims) will have

only the incidental effect of slightly increasing the value of her membership units. Her attempt to backtrack, however, is too little, too late, and is expressly contradicted by her explicit concession to the trial court:

THE COURT: . . . the clear uncontested issue between the parties in your correspondence to Sam is that, “We reject this offer that you have given us. And if you don’t settle with us, we’re going to file this derivative action.” *It’s clearly, based on your own language, a leverage being used in this case*, and I don’t see how any time you can get around it

MR. ROTHSTEIN: Well, Your Honor, I mean, *there was nothing improper in her doing that*.

Id. at 9:8–18 (R. 316:8–18) (emphasis added).

The inescapable reality is that Mattison brought her derivative action in an attempt to gain a higher value for her equity shares in MPS. Despite her counsel’s assertions that “there’s nothing wrong with that,” courts across the country have routinely dismissed derivative actions on the basis that the derivative plaintiff is using the lawsuit as a means of gaining leverage in other pending litigation. *See Smith v. Ayres*, 977 F.2d 946, 949 (5th Cir. 1992) (holding plaintiff’s vindictiveness toward the defendant and use of the derivative action as leverage in other litigation disqualified him from serving as a fair and adequate representative of the other shareholders); *Zarowitz v. BankAmerica Corp.*, 866 F.2d 1164, 1166 (9th Cir. 1989) (holding plaintiff was not a proper derivative plaintiff because his interest in the derivative suit was “dwarfed by his interest in pursuing his litigation with the Bank”); *Recchion v. Kirby*, 637 F. Supp. 1309, 1315 (W.D. Pa. 1986) (finding that because the plaintiff had a pending wrongful discharge action against Westinghouse, and due to his small percentage of ownership of Westinghouse stock, it was obvious that he was pursuing the derivative action for his own interests, and not the interests of the other shareholders); *Palmer v. U.S. Sav. Bank of Am.*, 553 A.2d 781, 786 (N.H. 1989) (“A number of courts have held that plaintiffs who had large personal suits against the company which they

purported to represent were not adequate representatives because of the likelihood that they would use the derivative suit as leverage in settling the personal suit.”); *Khanna v. McMinn*, No. Civ. A. 20545, 2006 WL 1388744 (Del. Ch. May 9, 2006) (finding the derivative plaintiff’s employment dispute with the company impaired his capacity to vindicate the shareholders’ best interests).

The Record demonstrates that Mattison asserted her derivative claim for an improper reasons, namely as leverage in pursuit of her own interests, and not to vindicate the interests of her purported class of members. Accordingly, the trial court correctly ruled that Mattison did not fairly and adequately represent the interests of the other members of MPS, and, therefore, pursuant to Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, granted MPS summary judgment on her derivative claim.

B. MPS’s other members unanimously opposed Mattison’s derivative action.

The trial court’s Order granting summary judgment on Mattison’s derivative claim noted another, independent reason she could not fairly and adequately represent the other members, namely because *every* member of MPS (other than Mattison) had declined to support or join her action and had affirmatively and had expressly stated she did *not* represent their interests. *See* Order at 7 (Sept. 30, 2020) (R. 61) (noting MPS and the Third-Party Defendants had produced declarations from every other member of the firm expressly declining to join or support the derivative claim and affirmatively stating Mattison did not represent the other members’ interests); *id.* at 7–10 (R. 61–64) (relying on deposition testimony elicited by counsel for MPS and the Third-Party Defendants affirmatively and expressly indicating Mattison did not represent the interests of the other members); *id.* at 14–16 (R. 68–70) (pointing to specific, identifiable reasons why Mattison did not represent the other members’ interests).

The trial court’s extensive focus on this showing—which includes aspects of the first, second, and eighth *Davis* factors—reveals Mattison is wrong when she argues on appeal that the

trial court erred by “focus[ing] almost entirely on only one of the eight factors”—namely, her improper motivation—and by “not even address[ing] those other seven factors.” Mattison’s Brief at 22. Contrary to her argument, the trial court addressed each of the relevant factors, including the first (*see* Order at 15 ¶ 3 (R. 69)), second (*see id.* at 14–16 (R. 68–70)), fifth (*see id.* at 10–14 (R. 64–68)), sixth (*see id.* at 14 (R. 68)), and eighth (*see id.* at 7–10 (R. 61–64)).

The Record supports the trial court’s conclusions. Every other member of the firm submitted written statements indicating they had reviewed and considered Mattison’s allegations in the derivative action; had determined the action was not in the best interests of the other members of MPS; declined to join, or in any way support, Mattison’s derivative action; and opposed the continued pursuit of the derivative action. *See* Member Statements at ¶¶ 6–7, 9 (R. 816 to 36).

Mattison argues the trial court impermissibly relied on these “unsworn, boilerplate statements.” *See* Mattison’s Brief at 23–26. Mattison is incorrect, as a trial court may consider and rely on unsworn declarations or written statements at the summary judgment stage of a proceeding. *See, e.g., Byrd v. City of Hartsville*, 365 S.C. 650, 654 n.2, 620 S.E.2d 76, 78 n.2 (2005) (affirming trial court’s grant of summary judgment relying in part on the unsworn statements). Further, the trial court did not rely exclusively (or even primarily or substantially) on the Member Statements. Rather, the court relied on the deposition testimony, Mattison’s own statements and admissions, and other evidence.

Specifically, each of the six MPS members Mattison deposed adopted and affirmed under oath their prior written statements and expressly stated the derivative action was not aligned with their interests. *See* Joslin Dep. at 168:2 to 169:10 (R. 425:2 to 426:10); Jacobs Dep. at 164:2 to 165:21 (R. 448:2 to 449:21); Myers Dep. at 165:8–14 (R. 488:8–14); Love Dep. at 231:18 to 232:25 and 237:6–9 (R. 547:18 to 548:25, 553:6–9); Pitts Dep. at 190:20 to 191:12 and 193:20–

23 (R. 588:20 to 589:12, 591:20–23); Ballard Dep. at 195:20 to 196:14 and 202:2–5 (R. 643:20 to 644:14, 650:2–5).

The other members’ opposition to Mattison’s derivative claim was not, as she argues, due to their ignorance of the majority members’ supposed wrongdoing. The signed Member Statements specifically note the members are aware of her allegations. *See* Member Statements at ¶ 6 (R. 816 to 836). In the depositions Mattison conducted, her counsel specifically presented the deponents with information detailing the supposedly excessive compensation paid to the majority members and the supposedly excessive rent paid for MPS’s building. The deposed members reviewed the information and had no complaint or concern with that compensation or rent and, in contrast, believed they were appropriate amounts. *See* Joslin Dep. at 80:6–18, 170:16 to 171:19 (R. 423:6–18, 427:16 to 428:19); Jacobs Dep. at 171:21 to 172:7 (R. 453:21 to 454:7); Myers Dep. at 167:1 to 168:5 (R. 490:1 to 491:5); Love Dep. at 85:9–24 and 236:21–24 (R. R. 522:9–24, 552:21–24); Pitts Dep. at 75:3–19 (R. 568:3–19); Ballard Dep. at 35:14–21 and 72:15–25 (R. 604:14–21, 622:15–25). Indeed, they testified that the compensation paid to the majority members accurately “reflects the value that they bring to the firm compared to other members” and is consistent with the value they contribute to the firm. *See* Ballard Dep. at 199:1–10 (R. R. 647:1–10).

Further, the relief Mattison seeks in her derivative claim is contrary to the interests of the other members as it would effectively disenfranchise them by undoing agreements they voted unanimously (other than Mattison) to adopt and would oust other members from the firm by undoing the corporate transactions and agreements by which some of the current members *became* members. *See* Order at 14–15 (R. 68–69).

For example, Mattison’s derivative claim asked the trial court to find that the addition of any new members without unanimous consent be declared null and void. *See* Am. Third-Party

Compl. ¶ 90 (R. 134). Mattison’s derivative action thus seeks to divest two current members of their ownership interests—members she claims to represent and whose admission into membership in MPS was supported by every member *except for* Mattison. Further, her derivative claim seeks to undo votes and business decisions that every other member of MPS voted for and under which MPS has been operating for many years. She seeks a declaration, for example, that MPS’s September 30, 2015 Operating Agreement is invalid because she did not sign the agreement. *Id.* at ¶¶ 48, 90 (R. 127, 134). Mattison was the *only* member of MPS who did not sign the Operating Agreement, and all other members of MPS have acted pursuant to the provisions of this Operating Agreement for years. Similarly, she asks the Court to declare invalid any proposed amendments to MPS’s Operating Agreement which were not adopted by unanimous consent. *Id.* at ¶ 90 (R. 134). MPS recently adopted a Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement dated September 16, 2019, which every member of MPS signed except for Mattison. Thus, Mattison is asking the Court to declare invalid an agreement that the members she purports to represented signed, consented to, and support.

The trial court correctly concluded Mattison’s derivative claim was not and could not be representative of the interests of MPS’s other members. Mattison’s belated expression of willingness to sign whatever was needed to avoid those members being divested does not resolve her inadequacy. *See* Mattison’s affidavit at ¶ 26 (R. 1096–97); Mattison’s Brief at 31–32. Rather, it, *highlights* her inability fairly and adequately to represent the other members.

C. Mattison’s remaining arguments as to the trial court’s ruling on fair and adequate representation are unavailing.

Mattison’s appellate brief raises nine issues and makes nine corresponding arguments. Most have been discussed and rebutted above. *See* Sections I(A)–(B), *supra*. The remainder, discussed briefly below, provide no basis to reverse the trial court’s ruling.

1. The trial court properly understood the burden and applied it.

Mattison argues that the trial court erroneously placed the burden on her to prove her adequacy as a representative, rather than placing it on MPS to prove her inadequacy. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 19–23. South Carolina’s appellate courts have not yet addressed who bears the burden of proving (or disproving) that a derivative plaintiff does (or does not) satisfy Rule 23(b)(1)’s requirement. Other jurisdictions place the burden on the party disputing the adequacy of the representation. *See, e.g.*, 18 C.J.S. Corporations § 499 (noting in part that “a challenge to the adequacy of the stockholder’s representative status places the burden on the party challenging the plaintiff’s standing”). Assuming that South Carolina, like other jurisdictions, places the burden on the party challenging the adequacy of the representation, Judge McIntosh clearly understood and properly applied that burden. *See* Tr. at 11:9–11 (May 12, 2020) (R. 318) (Judge McIntosh: “The burden of proof is different. It’s on the defendant as opposed to the plaintiff. I got that.”); *id.* at 40:13–19 (R. 347) (“THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Rothstein, as to the representative issue, anything further? MR. ROTHSTEIN: Well, Your Honor, again, this is -- I know I put this in my brief, but they have the burden of proof. THE COURT: I think he’s met that burden of proof quite frankly.”).

The trial court’s understanding and proper application of the burden is further evident from the analysis in the Order, which rested on MPS’s and the majority members’ affirmative showing of Mattison’s inadequacy. *See* Order at 7 (R. 61) (noting MPS and the Third-Party Defendants had produced evidence affirmatively showing Mattison’s inadequacy and inability to represent the other members); *id.* at 10–14 (R. 64–68) (agreeing with MPS’s and the Third-Party Defendants’ arguments that the record evidence affirmatively demonstrated an improper motive for Mattison’s

derivative claim); *id.* at 14–16 (R. 68–70) (relying on specific, identifiable reasons brought forward by MPS why Mattison did not and could not represent the other members).

2. *The trial court relied on admissible evidence.*

Mattison argues on appeal that the trial court erred by relying on “confidential settlement information” found in that letter, namely the price MPS offered for her shares and the amount she demanded in return. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 32–34. Her argument is contradicted by her past reliance on that letter. She incorporated it by reference in her pleadings, quoted it in her arguments to the trial court, attached it to a filing in the trial court, cited in her appellate brief, and included in her Designation of Matter. *See* Answer ¶ 105 (R. 101); Mattison’s Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss at 1–2, 8, and Ex. A (May 14, 2019); Mattison’s Brief at 27; Mattison’s Designation of Matter. Indeed, she expressly told the trial court the letter “was *not* written in the context of settlement negotiations.” Mattison’s Mem. at 2 (Sept. 8, 2019) (R. 680).

3. *The trial court did not overlook any facts.*

Mattison also argues that the trial court erred by supposedly ignoring the “facts” asserted in her affidavit and verified pleading. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 34–35. The sole “fact” she identifies as having been overlooked, however, is not a fact at all, but is a legal conclusion, namely her assertion that “she can fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated minority members.” *Id.* at 35 (citing Mattison’s Affidavit ¶ 23). However, a “conclusory statement on the issue in dispute does not create a question of fact precluding summary judgment.” *Trotter v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 298 S.C. 85, 91 n.3, 378 S.E.2d 267, 269 n.3 (Ct. App. 1989). She identifies no other “overlooked” facts and, in any event, the other allegations in her verified pleading and affidavit are irrelevant to the issue that was actually before the trial court because they relate to *the merits of her derivative claim*, not her adequacy as a representative. The merits or demerits of her

claim were not before the court and were irrelevant until Mattison first cleared the threshold hurdle of proving her adequacy to bring the claim—a showing she failed to make.

4. *Mattison’s “class of one” argument is unpreserved and, in any event, is meritless.*

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